EFFECTS OF DROUGHT ON THE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN HERBIVORES AND VEGETATION TYPES IN THE LAIKIPIA-SAMBURU ECOSYSTEM

LYDIA FRANK March 2016

SUPERVISORS: Dr. Tiejun Wang (ITC) Dr. Thomas Groen (ITC)

# EFFECTS OF DROUGHT ON THE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN HERBIVORES AND VEGETATION TYPES IN THE LAIKIPIA-SAMBURU ECOSYSTEM

LYDIA FRANK Enschede, The Netherlands, March 2016

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Geo-information Science and Earth Observation.

Specialization: Natural Resource Management

SUPERVISORS: Dr. Tiejun Wang (ITC) Dr. Thomas Groen (ITC)

THESIS ASSESSMENT BOARD: [Dr. A.G. Toxopeus (Chair] [Dr, L.G.J., Luc Boerboom (External Examiner, ITC)]

#### DISCLAIMER

This document describes work undertaken as part of a programme of study at the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente. All views and opinions expressed therein remain the sole responsibility of the author, and do not necessarily represent those of the Faculty.

### ABSTRACT

Climate change in Africa is expected to lead to a higher occurrence of severe droughts in semi-arid and arid ecosystems. To understand how vegetation and herbivores populations react to such events is crucial for addressing future challenges for ecosystem management and conservation. This study aims to investigate impacts of the 2009 drought on vegetation productivity and spatial distribution of the herbivores in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem in Kenya.

Mapping ecosystem vegetation and assessment of its productivity is an important aspect of ecosystem management. This study mapped the vegetation of Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem using multi-season Landsat 8 images and topography data. Consequently, estimated its vegetation productivity before, during and after 2009 drought using time series MODIS NDVI. Then linked vegetation data to herbivores abundance using a 2km by 2km grid that was adopted from the herbivores count survey method.

The study results indicate that vegetation productivity during drought had influence on the population dynamics of herbivores in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem. The status of herbivores in the year 2008 and 2012 was assessed in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem to determine the impacts of the drought on their populations. There was a rapid decline in the population of most animals, especially the grazers. The study indicate that the vegetation type that was strongly affected by drought, species associated to that vegetation types was also affected. This was shown by the decline of medium grazers, which was associated to the decline in vegetation productivity in grassland and mixed woodland they feed on, which was affected by the 2009 drought.

Keywords: Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem, Climate change, Drought, Herbivores abundance, Vegetation types, Vegetation productivity

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr Tiejun Wang (Natural Resources Department, ITC) and Dr Thomas Groen (Natural Resources Department, ITC) who patiently and tirelessly supervised this study to completion. I enjoyed working with you for the entire research period.

I am grateful for the support received from my advisor, Mr Festus W. Ihwagi (PhD candidate, ITC), for his valuable knowledge sharing and encouragement during the study.

We also wish to express our thanks and gratitude to the Kenyan government and the Kenyan Wildlife Service for providing us with the data used for our analyses.

I also thank Joint Japan/World bank Graduate Scholarship Program (JJ/WBGSP) for funding my MSc programme.

In addition, I would like to thank Willem Nieuwenhuis (Natural Resources Department, ITC) for his assistance in Time series MODIS NDVI pre-processing.

To my family, especially my mother, Batema Frank, for her support and encouragement during my study. To my fellow NRM students and SADC community at ITC for the wonderful time we shared.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abst	ract		i
Ackr	nowled	gements	11
Tabl	e of α	ontents	111
List o	of figu	rres	iv
List o	of tabl	es	v
1. In	troduc	tion	1
	1.2	Background	1
	1.3	Problem statement	5
	1.4	Research objectives	6
	1.5	Research questions	6
	1.6	Research hypotheses	6
	1.7	Structure of thesis and research approach	7
2	Mater	ials and Methods	.11
	2.1	Study area	11
	2.2	Data preparation and pre-processing	14
	2.3	Vegetation mapping	20
	2.4	Determining the relationship between herbivores and vegetation	23
	2.5	Statistical analyses	24
3	Result	S	.28
	3.1	Vegetation mapping and accuracy assessment	28
	3.2	Change of vegetation productivities for the three vegetation types before, during, and after the droug	ht
			29
	3.3	Change of herbivores abundance within the three vegetation types before and after the drought	32
4	Discu	ssion	. 35
	4.1	Improved vegetation mapping accuracy with the contribution of an ellary topographic data	35
	4.2	Impact of drought on herbivores distribution	36
5	Concl	usion and Recommedation	. 38
	5.1	Condusion	38
	5.2	Recommendation	39
List o	of refe	rences	.40

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 : Herbivores groups in Lewa Wildlife conservancy (source: Google Earth images)	.3
Figure 2 : Framework of the overall research approach	.8
Figure 3 : Location of the study area (Laikipia-Samburu) in Kenya and its existing land use1	11
Figure 4: Three-dimensional map of the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem showing topographic condition 1	12
Figure 5: Annual cumulative rainfall in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem (Mpala rainfall data from 1999 –	
2014	12
Figure 6: Mixed woodland (Source: Google earth image)1	13
Figure 7 Grassland in Lewa wildlife conservancy (Source: Google earth image) 1	14
Figure 8: These are five years NDVI values plots of the original data in TIMESAT 1	18
Figure 9 : These are five years plots of Smoothed data in TIMESAT1	18
Figure 10 : Aspect map of the study area1	19
Figure 11: Slope map of the study area2	20
Figure 12: Structure of environmental factors used in assessment of herbivores abundance and vegetatio	m
in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem	24
Figure 13 : Shows how vegetation productivity values in 2008 are expected to look like in a normal way	
(left side) and how they deviate from normal way (right side)	25
Figure 14: Shows how vegetation productivity values in 2009 are expected to be normal (left side) and	
how they deviate from normal way (right side)	25
Figure 15: Shows how vegetation productivity values in 2012 are expected to be normal (left side) and	
how they deviate from normal way (right side)	25
Figure 16: Show how 2008 herbivorous estimates are expected to be distributed in a normal way (left) an	nd
how they deviate from normal distribution (right)2	26
Figure 17: Shows how herbivorous estimates are expected to be distributed in normal way (left) and how	V
they deviate from normal distribution	26
Figure 18: Algorithm for test selection for group comparison of continuous endpoint (du Prel, Röhrig,	
Hommel, & Blettner, 2010)	27
Figure 19 : Land cover map after multi-season classification without topography data2	28
Figure 20: Land cover map after multi-season classification with topography data included2	29
Figure 21 : Boxplots showing vegetation productivity before, during and after drought within the three	
main vegetation types	30
Figure 22: Boxplots of NDVI standard deviation for the three main vegetation types before, during and	
after drought	31
Figure 23: Herbivore estimates within three main vegetation types in 2008 and 2012	33
Figure 24: Medium grazer and large grazers estimate within the three main vegetation types before and	
after 2009 drought	34

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: List of herbivorous animals identified during the aerial count surveys in 2008 and 2012	.14
Table 2 : Species grouped based on their feeding behaviour (browsers and Mixed Feeders)	.16
Table 3 : Species grouped based on their body size	.16
Table 4: List of Landsat 8 images used for land cover classification in this study	.17
Table 5: Reference data for land cover classification	. 22
Table 6: Confusion matrix derived measures of classification accuracy for Landsat 8 multi-season	
images classification	. 22
Table 7 : Confusion matrix derived measures of classification for Landsat 8 multi-season images	
combined with topography data classification	.23
Table 8 : Table showing the significance results using Friedman Test	. 29
Table 9 : Wilcoxon test results for mean NDVI significance difference for the three vegetation types	.30
Table 10 : The table shows the significance results of using Friedman Test	. 31
Table 11: Wilcoxon test results for significant differences in variability of mean NDVI within the three	
vegetation types	. 32
Table 12: Wilcoxon test significance differences results for herbivores estimates within the three main	
vegetation types before and after 2009 drought	. 33
Table 13: Wilcoxon test significance difference results for Grazers estimates within three main vegetatio	n
types before and after 2009 drought	. 34

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.2 Background

#### 1.2.1 Climate change, drought and biodiversity conservation

Climate change is one of the pressing issues of our time due to temperature effects and atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentration rise (Bartholomeus et al., 2012). This may result in prolonged dry periods and more intensive rainfall in different parts of the world (Solomon et al., 2007). For example, higher solar radiations on the equator-facing slopes relative to polar-facing slopes which results in higher evaporative demand, consequently, drier soils (Gutiérrez-Jurado et al., 2006). As a consequence of this dry conditions the vegetation may become more xeric on the equator facing surfaces (Bennie et al., 2008), leading to low aboveground biomass and plant cover (Reddy et al., 2004). This areas may become more patchy than on the polar facing surfaces. Climate change impacts are significant on physiology, phenology and distribution of species , animal life cycle, migraton of bird and animals, wild animals' habitat as well as coral reefs habitat (Thakur & Phulara, 2009). Impacts of climate change can also affect preservation of wild animals and plants in protected areas and biodiversity hotspots (Thakur & Phulara, 2009). Therefore, Climate change is expected to be one of the major drivers of species may increase, others may reduce or reach a point of extinction (Midgley et.al., 2003; Garcia et.al., 2012; Huntley et.al., 2012).

These climatic changes are observed and predicted to change the natural environment, among others changing the rainfall patterns, leading to long drought periods in some regions (Breshears et al., 2005). Drought is a period of prolonged lack of precipitation that cause a serious hydrological imbalance (Solomon et al., 2007). Droughts are more frequent and more severe in many parts of the world because of increasing global temperatures. Air temperatures have increased during the past 100 years in Africa (Nicholson et.al., 2013), leading to change in rainfall patterns that worsens the impact of the drought. Examples include the severe drought in Kenya in 2009 (Zwaagstra et al., 2010; Kioko, 2013). Kenya usually expects short rains in October, November and December, but there was less rain from December 2008 and the long rains of February to April 2009 were severely depleted (Kioko, 2013). The change in hydrological cycle due to global warming can affect river run-off , accelerate water-related hazards, and consequently affect agriculture, vegetation, biodiversity and health (Thakur & Phulara, 2009). It may also cause desertification on savanna ecosystem, for example in African savanna (Smith, 2015). Temperature fluctuations and changes in rainfall patterns, which are new challenges to biodiversity conservation, are the main reason for habitat change (Thakur & Phulara, 2009). Rainfall variability is an important feature of semi-arid climates, and is likely to increase in many regions of the world (Batisani & Yarnal, 2010).

The multiple components of climate change (i.e., temperature, rainfall, extreme events, CO2 concentration and ocean dynamic) are predicted to affect all the levels of biodiversity, from organism to biome levels (Bellard et al., 2012). It may decrease genetic diversity of populations due to directional selection and rapid migration, which could affect ecosystem functioning and resilience (Meyers & Bull, 2002). The increases in the frequency, duration, or severity of drought and heat stress are associated with climate change. It could fundamentally alter the composition, structure, and biogeography of forests in many regions (Allen et al., 2010).

#### 1.2.2 Vegetation and Herbivores

Climate change trend can cause variations in vegetation compositional state (Onyango, 2015) and this may have implications on ecological systems and wildlife species distribution (Mundia & Murayama, 2009). One of the main use of ecosystem is to provide forage for both grazing wildlife and livestock. Vegetation production is determined by the amount and timing of rainfall, soil type, temperature and fire (Yeganeh et al., 2012). Droughts are one of the significant component of such climatic variability, and can have a devastating impact on animal populations (Young, 1994; Foley et al., 2008). Through processes such as recurrent reductions in population numbers and the consequent genetic effects caused by demographic bottlenecks (Young, 1994), droughts also have the potential to lead populations and entire species to extinction.

Droughts are frequently reoccuring and are expected to become more frequent in most arid and semi-arid ecosystems (Easterling et al., 2000). Some parts of semi-arid and arid lands are the mostly affected and suffers massive loss of vegetation cover and severe land degradation. For example, drought episodes are known to recur in Kenya over a cyclic pattern and consequently, where soils are left with severely inadequate moisture to sustain plant growth (Toepfer et al., 2000). Thus prolonged, severe drought can have an impact on the dynamics of animal populations, particularly in semi-arid and arid environments where herbivores populations are strongly limited by resource availability. This climatic changes influence vegetation species to shift their distribution along temperature or rainfall gradients and consequently changes herbivores habitat suitability. To understand how animal populations react to such hydric stress, it is crucial to address future challenges in wildlife management and conservation (Garel et al., 2004), especially in drought sensitive areas (Saltz et al., 2006). Drought can vary in severity, for example, the 2009 drought in Kenya which severely affected Samburu national reserve. The reserve massively lost vegetation cover and severely degraded by end of September 2009 (Kioko, 2013). Therefore, lack of forage during drought might have been one of the causes of death of a number of herbivores in the reserve.

Rainfall determines vegetation growth and hence it may affect the distribution and abundance of herbivores (Coe et al., 1976; Owen-Smith, 1990). It is observed that decline in population of African savanna ungulates is caused by summer rainfall reductions which could result in their local extinction if regional climate change trends are sustained (Ogutu & Owen-Smith, 2003). The dynamic equilibrium that exists between regional climate and vegetation could alter if either component changes (Shukla et al., 1990). Local impacts on vegetation can have effects on biodiversity, because changes in vegetation life form and composition, led by drought, may affect habitat suitability for many species.

Grazing distribution is an important component of the foraging ecology of herbivores. Recognising the differences in foraging behaviours, that occur along spatial and temporal scales, is critical for understanding the mechanisms that result in grazing distribution patterns (Bailey & Provenza, 2007). Abiotic factors (topography, water availability and weather) and biotic factors (forage quantity and quality ) affect the distribution of herbivores. Vegetation availability is a measure of the actual available amount of vegetation to the animal. The relationship between species distribution patterns and environmental factors vary spatially (Bailey et.al., 2008). Herbivores usually move in groups (Figure 1), do not randomly distribute as they display spatial grazing distribution patterns. They are selective when foraging based on biomass availability (Baumont et.al., 2000) with their distribution and density matching the vegetation distribution (Skidmore et.al., 2008).



Figure 1 : Herbivores groups in Lewa Wildlife conservancy (source: Google Earth images)

In response to climatic conditions, herbivores may move up or down elevation zones to take advantage of the variability in plant phenology. Migrations of herbivores from one region to another may be due to lack of forage or water (Senft et al., 1987) which allows them to survive in spite of the variability in weather and climatic patterns (Boone et al., 2006).

Differences in the physiological response of plant species to drought determine different levels of resistance and resilience to water deficits (Chaves et al., 2003) and ultimately influence vegetation adaptation to drought, differentiating those that slow growth (Pasho et al., 2011) or reduce greenness (Ji & Peters, 2003), those that lead to loss of biomass (Ciais et al., 2005), and those that result in plant mortality (Allen et al., 2010) (Adams et al., 2009). The response to water deficit among vegetation types is a crucial issue underlying geographic patterns of vegetation and a central concept to understanding the structure and dynamic of terrestrial ecosystems (Knapp & Smith, 2001). Nevertheless, the way by which the temporal variability of drought determines vegetation activity across the world biomes remains largely unknown because vegetation types have different characteristic response times (Pasho et al., 2011) and vulnerability to drought (McDowell et al., 2008). Most studies have considered the response of vegetation to climate by means of the simple anomaly of precipitation with respect to the average conditions (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2013). Such approach neglects the role of temperature and the drought time-scale at which the response of vegetation is highest which both are essential to identify the response to climate variability and to understand the sensitivity of vegetation to drought (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2013).

The importance of summarizing variability in population abundances is ubiquitous throughout evolutionary ecology, particularly in comparing population dynamics and evaluating extinction risk. Previous studies considering multiple species assemblages of large herbivores in African savannas have generally shown that herbivore populations are variably influenced by rainfall, with grazers being more negatively affected than browsers following droughts (Ogutu & Owen-Smith, 2003). Rapid and large-scale shifts in ecosystem structure and function can result from mortality of forest and woodland plants in response to extreme climate events (McDowell et al., 2008).

#### 1.2.3 Remote sensing of vegetation and its productivity

Relationships between species distribution and remote sensing derived variables, if known, can be used to predict the distribution of species over large areas (Debinski & Humphrey, 1997). Remote sensing is the primary tool for the synoptic analysis of habitats at a landscape scale. It allows researchers to address questions such as what elements are present, what spatial arrangements these elements have and what are their temporal dynamics (Quattrochi & Pelletier, 1991). Application of remote sensing in ecology can widen the understanding of vegetation dynamics and reduce costs for surveying large and remote areas. Remote sensing can be used as a tool for assessing the past and future biodiversity consequences of climate change and primary productivity.

Land cover classification is the basis for many environmental applications (Zhu & Woodcock, 2014). Remote sensing data with high temporal and spatial resolution and relatively low cost has become a reliable data source for land cover classification. However, such data sets can be affected by cloud cover, which can affects image selection.

Variation in topography and rainfall are one of the factors which determines the heterogeneity of savanna structure and function on different scales (Frost et al., 1986). Savanna ecosystem can be located in complex terrain. The landscape creates spatial niches for different types of vegetation through the effects of aspect, slope and curvature on the water and energy balance at the soil surface (Gutiérrez-Jurado et al., 2006) Therefore, spatial variation in slope and aspect is a key determinant of vegetation pattern, species distribution and ecosystem processes (Bennie et al., 2008). The slope and aspect strongly affects the amount of solar radiation intercepted by vegetated surface. Solar radiation determines the exposure of vegetation to photosynthetically active and ultra-violet wavelengths (Bennie et al., 2008).

Effective use of multiple features of remotely sensed data and selection of suitable classification method are especially significant for improving classification accuracy (Lu & Weng, 2007). To improve classification accuracy, spectral data can be combined with ancillary data (topographic data). This data can then be used as additional attribute information during classification process which will improve interpretability of image information and have influences in animal distribution as relief affects vegetation, eventually affecting their spatial distribution. Previous studies by (Lu & Weng, 2007; Varga et al., 2014) and (Ricchetti, 2000) have shown that topography data can improve classification accuracy. The Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) data provides a high quality surface model which is widely utilized in many studies in geography (Gorokhovich & Voustianiouk, 2006) and estimate vegetation height across the landscape (Hofton et al., 2006). The use of SRTM can therefore improve the vegetation and land cover detection, and in some cases it can modify the absolute accuracy (Higgins et al., 2012).

Various indices that characterize drought as experienced by vegetation exist. Aboveground biomass has been related to mean annual precipitation (Sala et al., 2012), mean precipitation deficit (Ciaiset al., 2005) and others have related vegetation to radiation (Kirkpatrick & Nunez, 1980). Therefore, we need to predict possible vegetation responses to increased drought conditions. Differences in vegetation characteristics on surfaces with different slope and aspect, with different solar radiation determines the spatial variability in vegetation characteristics due to spatially variable drought conditions (Bartholomeus et al., 2012). Solar radiation is a key determinant of vegetation characteristics, not only at large spatial scales but also at local scales where slope and aspect may vary (Bennie et al., 2008).

Remote sensing offers reliable techniques for monitoring, assessing and estimating vegetation productivity over time. Satellite imagery data have been proved to be a very useful tool for estimating grass production (Biro et al., 2013). Previous studies have shown that vegetation indices derived from remotely sensed data are correlated to vegetation production in the ecosystem (Yeganeh, Khajedein, Amiri, & Shariff, 2012). Different vegetation indices such as Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI), Soil Adjusted

Vegetation Index (SAVI) and Ratio Vegetation Index (RVI) have been used in the above said studies to show the relationship between grazers' distribution and vegetation production. Correlation of vegetation production and vegetation indices have shown that vegetation productivity vary from time to time (Yeganeh et al., 2012) depending on different climate factors. The variations in vegetation productivity can be mapped and explained through hyper-temporal remote sensing image data collected over an area for different growing seasons.

By using NDVI, it has been shown that red and near –infrared (NIR) radiances can be used to monitor photosynthetically active green biomass above the earth surface. This is due to the existence of strong absorption by chlorophylls in the red channel and presence of high reflectance by leaf scattering mechanisms in the NIR channel (Tucker, 1979). The ability to use satellite data to detect drought conditions is based on spectral manifestation of reduced photosynthetic capacity of plant canopies and comparisons can be made between years in terms of the satellite-measured estimates of photosynthetic capacity(Tucker & Choudhury, 1987).

According to Onyango, (2015), trees, high shrub and woody areas have less variations in NDVI. Variability in NDVI detected through Standard Deviation (SD) shows how vegetation in the area deviates from the mean NDVI over time. When the SD is large it means that the vegetation cover is not in a stable over that period of time.

#### 1.3 Problem statement

For biodiversity to be conserved, understanding how species and communities are likely to change under different conditions of climate change is essential. Such understanding is important because existing conservation networks will not perform adequately if species temporal turnover is not taken into consideration. Therefore, there is a need to identify the main vegetation types (i.e., forest, mixed woodland, and grassland) in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem to know which vegetation is present for herbivores species and it's response to climate change (drought).

To study the interaction between herbivores and vegetation types there is a need to identify herbivores and vegetation types of the study area. A detailed vegetation mapping is an important aspect of ecology because small-scale differences in topography and meteorological conditions cause significant differences in vegetation characteristics (Bennie et al., 2008).

Spatial resolution determines the level of spatial detail that can be observed on the earth surface. To describe the presence or absence of various vegetation types in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem high resolution mapping is considered. High resolution mapping provides an effective way to depict land cover as it produces a map as a representation of the Earth's surface that is spatially continuous and highly consistent (Sun & Schulz, 2015). Using a coarser resolution satellite imagery can be a challenge in terms of vegetation accurate discrimination. A fine spatial resolution images reduce the mixed pixel problem, by providing a greater potential to extract more detailed information on land cover structure than medium or coarse spatial resolution data. To get a good discrimination of the vegetation types, a combination of spectral and spatial classification is especially valuable for fine land cover classification systems in the areas with complex landscapes (Lu & Weng, 2007). Spectral variation within the same land cover is common in complex landscapes with the high degree of spectral heterogeneity.

It is very important to understand the scales of impact driving vegetation productivity in herbivore ecosystem. The impact in vegetation productivity may reduce forage availability and also determining foraging behaviour and hence, herbivores distribution. WallisDeVries, (1996) has clearly shown that the

spatial patterns of vegetation types can affect the the distribution of herbivores. The mapped Laikipia-Samburu vegetation types have to be assessed after 2009 drought to know the impact of drought on vegetation productivity. Vegetation types respond differently to drought based on their phenology and primary productivity. It is necessary to know the vegetation types that are affected by drought and whether are the one important to herbivores as source of forage. Moreover, relate to herbivores, they interact with vegetation differently during foraging based on their diet preferences. This can be illustrated by using time series MODIS NDVI 250m to quantify vegetation production from October to December (short rains season) from 2008 to 2012 (before, during and after 2009 drought) and relate to vegetation types.

Body size and feeding behaviour of Laikipia-Samburu herbivores should be known because changes in vegetation composition of the available vegetation may affect the animal's foraging behaviour (Hanley, 1997). The spatial distribution of vegetation is therefore likely to be important in determining forage behaviour and hence, herbivores distribution, depending on the frequency of forage patches and their location (WallisDeVries, 1996).

#### 1.4 Research objectives

#### 1.4.1 General objective

The overall objective of this study is to investigate impacts of the 2009 drought on vegetation productivity and spatial distribution of the herbivores in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem in Kenya.

#### 1.4.2 Specific objectives

- 1. To map the three main vegetation types (i.e., forest, mixed woodland, and grassland) in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem in 2008 and 2012 using multi-season Landsat images and ancillary topographic dataset.
- 2. To examine the changes of the vegetation productivity of the three main vegetation types in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem between 2008 and 2012 using multi-temporal MODIS NDVI data.
- 3. To assess the abundance of herbivores in relation to the three main vegetation types in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem before and after 2009 drought.

#### 1.5 Research questions

- 1. Can adding topographic data significantly improve mapping accuracy of the three main vegetation types in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem?
- 2. Are there any significant differences in vegetation productivity within the three main vegetation types before, during and after 2009 drought?
- 3. Are there any significant variability of productivity within the three main vegetation types between 2008 and 2012 due to the 2009 drought occurred in Kenya?
- 4. Are there any differences in abundance of herbivore species within the three main vegetation types before and after 2009 drought?
- 5. Are there any differences in abundance of grazers species within the three main vegetation types between 2008 and 2012?

#### 1.6 Research hypotheses

1. **H**<sub>0</sub>: Adding topographic data cannot significantly improve the mapping accuracy of the three main vegetation types in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem.

H<sub>a</sub>: Adding topographic data can significantly improve the mapping accuracy of the three main vegetation types in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem.

2. **H**<sub>0</sub>: There is no significant difference in NDVI within each of the vegetation types between 2008 and 2012 in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem.

H<sub>a</sub>: There is a decline in NDVI within each of the vegetation types after 2009 drought in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem.

3. **Ho:** There is no significant difference in variability of NDVI between 2008 and 2012 within the three vegetation types.

Ha: The variation in NDVI will be higher in 2012 compared to 2008 in mixed woodland and Grassland.

4. **H**<sub>o</sub>: There is no significant difference in herbivores abundance within the three main vegetation types after 2009 drought

H<sub>a</sub>: There is a decline in herbivores abundance over all the three main vegetation types after 2009 drought.

5. **H**<sub>o</sub>: There is no significant difference in medium grazers abundance and large grazers abundance within the three main vegetation types between 2008 and 2012.

H<sub>a</sub>: There is a decline in medium grazers abundance and large grazers within the three vegetation types between 2008 and 2012.

#### 1.7 Structure of thesis and research approach

Chapter 1 consists of research background, explanation of research problem, the research objectives, questions and hypotheses. It also describe general research outline. Chapter 2 introduces the study area, data preparation, pre-processing and research approaches. Chapter 3 it explains the research findings in relation to specific research questions in Chapter 1. Chapter 4 discusses the methods of the study and the relevance of the results. Chapter 5 summarises the research and recommendations for further studies.

Figure 2 below shows the overall research approach framework. The research was mainly composed of mapping the ecosystem vegetation and regression analysis between vegetation types and herbivores abundance. Firstly, vegetation types were identified by using multi-seasonal Landsat images and topographic data. In addition, I used time series NDVI to study vegetation productivity trend between 2008 and 2012 for the short rains season for the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem. Secondly, the ecosystem was assessed based on herbivores abundance in relation to identified vegetation types and vegetation productivity in 2008 and 2012 per grid of 2km by 2km. The population estimates were compared to confirm if the population had increased or decreased after 2009 drought within the three main vegetation types.



Figure 2 : Framework of the overall research approach



Lewa wildlife conservancy in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem (Source: Google earth image)



Samburu National Reserve in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem (Source: Google earth image)

### 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 Study area

#### 2.1.1 Geographic conditions

The study area is made of two counties, Laikipia and Samburu that are neighbouring counties on a high plateau in the rift valley province in central Kenya (Figure 3). Laikipia County (9666 km<sup>2</sup>) is adjacent to Samburu county on the north and located on the equator (36°11' - 37°24' E and 0°18' - 0°51' N). It consists of steep elevation and climatic gradient because of the presence of Mt. Kenya (5199m) to the southeast and high lands to the southwest. These uplands are drained to the north and form two perennial rivers, the Ewaso Nyiro and Ewaso Narok which continues to flow eastward through Samburu. While Samburu County covers 21 022 km<sup>2</sup> and borders the Ewaso Nyiro to the south (36°20' - 38°10' E and 0°40' - 2°50' N).



Figure 3 : Location of the study area (Laikipia-Samburu) in Kenya and its existing land use



Figure 4: Three-dimensional map of the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem showing topographic condition

The area is a typical dry savanna, hot and dry with highly variable bimodal rainfall which falls in April and November (Barkham et.al., 1976). Annual rainfall ranges from 400mm to 750mm in Laikipia and 250mm to 500mm in Samburu. Annual average temperatures ranging from 16°C to 26°C and 24°C to 33°C, respectively (Georgiadis et.al., 2007). The rainfall in Laikipia Samburu ecosystem varies along steep gradient, from 750mm in the Southern part of the plateau near Mt Kenya to 300mm in the lower northern part. This variation in altitude and rainfall has contributed to variation in land uses. Rainfall increases at higher elevations in the south and is weakly bimodal (Georgiadis et al., 2007). There was severe drought in 2009 in Kenya because of less rain from December 2008 and the long rains of February to April 2009 were severely depleted (Kioko, 2013). The study focus on year 2008, 2009 and 2012, whereby 2008 and 2012 are years of animal survey data that are non-drought years while 2009 is a drought year. Figure 5 shows annual rainfall trend in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem from 1999 to 2014.



Figure 5: Annual cumulative rainfall in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem (Mpala rainfall data from 1999 - 2014.

Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem is a home for many wild ungulate species such as Grevy's zebra (*Equus grevyi*), Grant's gazelle (*Nanger granti*), and reticulated giraffe (*Giraffa Camelopardalis reticulata*). Laikipia has the greatest wildlife abundance in Kenya after the Masai Mara National Reserve (Georgiadis et.al., 2007). Both wildlife and nomadic pastoral farmers use the same landscape in this ecosystem. Livestock production stands as the main livelihood for pastoralists and commercial ranchers (Campbell et.al., 2009) in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem.

#### 2.1.2 Vegetation cover and descriptions

The Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem is characterized by a number of habitat structures ranging from open grasslands to closed woody or bushy vegetation with varying amounts and composition of grass cover and grass species respectively (John et al., 2008). The Laikipia-Samburu climatic gradient is associated with land cover and land use changes, from alpine woodlands through protected montane rain forests, intensively cultivated moist zone, to relatively dry savanna grass and bushlands at low elevations (*https://mmw.expertafrica.com/kenya/Laikipia*). Laikipia County compose of agricultural and vegetation complexes through forest plantations, different bush land, grassland, dry forest and various marshy wetlands in the upland. While Samburu County is characterised by rangelands of wood savannah and open grassland. Therefore, the area is scrubby and open bush dominating most of the reserve areas with the fringing riverine forest of acacias, figs and palms extending from 50m to 200m from the river Ewaso Nyiro margins (*https://mmw.expertafrica.com/kenya/samburu-national-reserve*).

This Savanna is characterized by grasses and small or dispersed trees (scattered trees and shrubs) that do not form a closed canopy. Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem vegetation distinguishing features are as follows;

(1) Forest is usually dense and homogenous canopy of vegetation

(2) Mixed-woodland usually with low vegetation cover and partly clear areas, with some parts containing a mixture of trees, shrubs, grass and bare soil (Figure 6).

(3) Arable land is mainly paddy fields and minor areas of shrubs and trees

(4) Grassland is mainly grass and some few shrubs (Figure 7)



Figure 6: Mixed woodland (Source: Google earth image)



Figure 7 Grassland in Lewa wildlife conservancy (Source: Google earth image)

#### 2.2 Data preparation and pre-processing

#### 2.2.1 Animal data

#### Count data

Animal count data was sourced from Kenya Wildlife Service (KWS). KWS carried out total aerial count surveys for large herbivores in November 2008 and November 2012, respectively. These aerial surveys were done following the method described by Douglas-Hamilton et al. (1994, 1997). They used 10 aircrafts in 2008 while 13 aircrafts were used in 2012 for surveys. Observations were saved using Global Position System (GPS) as waypoints with the geographical location referenced and used for species distribution maps (Litoroh et al., 2010; Ngene et al., 2013). Data filtration was done to eliminate repetition of counts along block boundaries before analysis (Litoroh et al., 2010). Few photographs were taken as pilots circled complex herds for counting (Ngene et al., 2013). The ecosystem was surveyed using flight lines interval varying between one and two kilometres based on the visibility and terrain, but constant in direction and observed interval for each block when possible. In the Northern part of the area, the flight lines had wider spacing and these flight paths had various length to block delineations and topography. The census data is in point form represent herbivores heads per location (static data). The survey covered wildlife species, livestock and elephant carcasses. The focus of the survey was on large herbivores counting. Table 1 below shows the animal species both for 2008 and 2012 count surveys

Table 1: List of herbivorous animals identified during	g the aerial count surveys	in 2008 and 201	12
--	----------------------------	-----------------	----

Species codes	Species name	Scientific name	Average body mass (Kg)	Class
BF	African buffalo	Syncerus caffer	590	Large grazer
DD	Guenther's dik dik	Madoqua guentheri	4	Small browser
DK	Ader's Duiker	Cephalophus adersi	9	Small browser
EL	African Elephant	Loxotonta africana	4000	Mixed feeder

ED	Common Eland	Taurotragus oryx	650	Large Mixed feeder
GR	Giraffe	Giraffa camelopardalis	1600	Large browser
GG	Grant's Gazelle	Gazella granti	65	Small Mixed feeder
GK	Greater Kudu	Tragelaphus strepsiceros	230	Medium browser
GN	Gerenuk	Litocranius walleri	44	Small browser
TG	Thompson Gazelle	Gazella thomsonii	25	Small Mixed feeder
IM	Impala	Aepyceros melampus	80	Medium Mixed feeder
LK	Lesser Kudu	Tragelaphus imberbis	75	Small browser
OX	Oryx	Oryx gazella	175	Medium grazer
WRH	White Rhinoceros	Ceratotherium simum	1850	Large browser
WB	Common Waterbuck	Kobus ellipsiprymnus	240	Medium grazer
WH	Common Warthog	Phacochoerus africanus	105	Medium-mixed feeder
RH	Black Rhinoceros	Diceros bicomis	1060	Large Browser
HP	Common Hippo	Hippopotamus amphibius	1500	Large grazer
ZB	Burchell's Zebra	Equus burchellii	280	Medium Grazer
GZ/ZG	Grey's Zebra	Equus grevyi	400	Large grazer
KG	Red Hartebeest	Alcelaphus buselaphus	135	Medium grazer
BB	Bushbuck	Tragelaphus scriptus	72	Small Browser

Note: The classification of animal body size is based on Silva and Downing (1995); Owen-smith (1988)

#### Animal species selection and grouping

Animal species selection and grouping was processed from animal count data. Population estimates reliability from aerial censuses is affected by counting errors and biases(Jolly, 2015). Due to vegetation cover, animal numbers are underestimated especially in thick and dense vegetation that cause visibility problems. Colour contrast between vegetation cover and animals can also have an influence on the number of animals counted (Dublin et al., 1990). Counting errors can be caused by misidentification especially with similar animals like Grant and Thomson's gazelles (Ottichilo et al., 2000). This may lead to increase in variance of survey statistics (de Leeuw, 1998). For further analysis, species such as Rhinoceros and Hippopotamus were excluded because they are the critically endangered species and only found in fenced areas. Other species like Guenther's dik dik and Ader's Duiker were also excluded because of underestimated numbers due to visibility during aerial counting as the surveys targeted large herbivores. Common warthog was excluded because of their visibility problems as they are found in thick and dense vegetation, their numbers were underestimated. Therefore, species selection and grouping was done to reduce errors. Animal species were grouped based on feeding behaviour and body size. Animal species were clustered into browsers, mixed feeders and grazers (Table 2). Browsers have a diet based around leaves for example the giraffe while grazers like buffalo; depend on the grass for their nutrition. However, in time of drought when grasses cover is poor the distinction between the two can become blurred because herbivores will eat any nutritious plant (<u>http://www.krugerpark.co.za/Kruger National Park Wildlife-travel/explore-kruger-park-grazers-and-browsers.html</u>).

In addition, grazers were further grouped according their body size (Medium and large grazers) (Table 3). Species that were not covered by both years were excluded for further analysis like Bushbuck.

Browsers	Mixed Feeders
Giraffe	Common Eland
Kudu	Grant's gazelle
Gerenuk	Thomson gazelle
	Impala
	Elephant

Table 2 : Species grouped based on their feeding behaviour (browsers and Mixed Feeders)

Table 3: Species grouped based on their body size

Large grazers	Medium grazers
African buffalo	Oryx
Grevy's zebra	Common waterbuck
	Burchell's zebra
	Red hartebeest

#### 2.2.2 Satellite image collection and pre-processing

Atmospheric condition is always a challenge in satellite data. Frequent cloudy conditions in the Laikipia-Samburu regions was an obstacle for capturing high quality optical sensor data. However, a medium resolution images (30m Landsat 8) was preferred because this images had less cloud cover on the study area and are free. A 250m resolution time series MODIS NDVI was considered for providing a greater potential to extract more detailed information on vegetation productivity than a coarser spatial resolution data (500m or 1km). The NDVI data was estimated from the MODIS sensors because of its high temporal resolution with a wide range of wavelengths make it to be rich in information and reliable while Landsat data provide spatial detailed information to be used for land cover and land change studies.

#### Landsat 8 data

Landsat 8 satellite images of 30m spatial resolution between 23<sup>rd</sup> May 2013 and 5<sup>th</sup> January 2015, was downloaded from the United States Geological Survey (<u>http://glovis.usgs.gov/</u>). These images are from path/row: 169/59 and path/row: 168/60. Considering the cloud cover (<10% cloud cover), 8 images were selected for further analysis. These images are already corrected to surface reflectance. The 8 images covered both dry and wet season as shown in Table 4. Spectral bands (1-7) were layer stacked and images were mosaicked into single raster using ENVI software. The Landsat 8 satellite image data was in WGS 84 projection. The images spatial extent was reduced to the area of study boundary through Subsetting in ENVI software. Then the subset images were used for land cover classification based on the training reference data collected from digital globe images in Google pro. Table 4 below shows list of Landsat 8 images for this study.

Acquisition date	Season	Source
5 <sup>th</sup> January 2015	Dry	USGS
8th June 2013	Wet	USGS
3rd February 2014	Dry	USGS
23rd May 2013	Wet	USGS
25th January 2014	Dry	USGS
24 <sup>th</sup> December 2013	Wet	USGS
25th January 2014	Dry	USGS
30th May 2013	Wet	USGS

Table 4: List of Landsat 8 images used for land cover dassification in this study

#### ➢ MODIS NDVI

Five years (2008 -2012) time series of 16 day composite MODIS 250m Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) terra sensor data (MOD13Q1) were downloaded from NASA Land Processes Distributed Archive Center (LPDAAC), via USGS MODIS Reprojection Tool Web Interface (http://mrtweb.cr.usgs.gov). NDVI is based on the following equation;

#### NDVI= (nir-red)/ (nir+red)..... Equation 1

Where **red** and **nir** are the surface reflectance values of the fisrt and second spectral bands of MODIS respectively.

Each time series consists of 23 composite dimensions. One tile (h21v08) of the MODIS data were aquired for the study area. For each composite, NDVI information was extracted. The NDVI images were stacked into mega file of short rains seasons months (October, November and December). These months were selected based on the time of herbivores surveys (November). This mega image was then projected from Sinusoidal to Universal Transverse Mercator projection zone 37N. And the images were then clipped through subset to the study area. The above processes were done in ENVI software.

To reduce pontential noise of clouds and outliers (Figure 8) but also keeping high fidelity of the data, the imgaes were cleaned and smoothed (Figure 9) using an modified version of adaptive Savitzky-Golay filter (ASAVGOL) (Beltran-Abaunza, 2009) in ENVI-IDL NRS- Timeseries ". Seasonal mean (October, November and December) and standard deviation (October, November and December) of the cleaned data were computed in ENVI IDL for use in the analysis. Then zonal statistics were generated in arcGIS based on a 2 km by 2 km grid for use in the analysis (Zonal calculations). The data is necessary for this study for simulation of forage availability and forage variability (Pettorelli et al., 2005).



Figure 8: These are five years NDVI values plots of the original data in TIMESAT



Figure 9: These are five years plots of Smoothed data in TIMESAT

Digital Evaluation Model (DEM)

The NASA Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) DEM 30 m resolution was also downloaded from LP DAAC at projection of WGS 84. It was used to generate slope and aspect gradient of the study area, using topographic modelling in ENVI software. Using slope (degrees) (Figure 11) and aspect (degree) (Figure 11) as topo model parameters respectively. Both slope and aspect images was then combined with wet and dry season images by layer stacking in ENVI software for land cover classification.



Figure 10 : Aspect map of the study area



Figure 11: Slope map of the study area

#### 2.3 Vegetation mapping

Selected remotely sensed data and image processing and classification approaches, might affect the success of a classification (Lu & Weng, 2007). Remote-sensing classification is a complex process and requires consideration of many factors. The major steps of image classification include determination of suitable classification system, selection of training samples, feature extraction, selection of suitable classification approaches, post classification processing, and accuracy assessment (Li et al., 2015). Distinguishing Savanna vegetation using satellite data is a challenge, mainly due to high structural and functional heterogeneity (Mishra & Crews, 2014). Vegetation in savanna ecosystem has large reflectance variation and cloud-free images is limited in wet season as compared to dry season. Therefore combining and classifying images for different dates, season or year as multi-temporal can improve land cover classification accuracy. Information from different seasons helps to discriminate between vegetation types based on information available at different times of the year. Hence, multi-season images were used for optimal vegetation discrimination.

Classification results of spectral data can be improved by taking into account other object attributes such as topographic data. This study will evaluate the effectiveness of using topographic data to improve the interpretability of image information, and classification of spectral data for vegetation types. A sufficient number of training samples and their representativeness are critical for image classifications (Chen & Stow, 2002). The landscape of the study area is complex and heterogeneous therefore selecting sufficient training samples becomes difficult. However, three main vegetation are considered while scrubland was treated as

part of grassland and mixed woodland because it not easy to differentiate it from grassland and mixed woodland, using satellite images.

#### Sample selection

The existing vegetation map for Kenya was download from International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) GIS Portal. It was used as a reference data, these data was collected by German Agency for Technical Cooperation (GTZ) in collaboration with Kenya Ministry of Agriculture, livestock development and Marketing in 1994. Department of Resource Surveys and Remote Sensing (DRSRS) converted these data into a GIS database in 1994 (<u>http://data.ilri.org/geoportal/catalog/main/home.page</u>). This dataset portrays vegetation at a scale of 1:500,000. Then we reduced the spatial extent to the region of interest by using the study area boundary.

Using Analysis tools for ArcGIS 10.3.1 software 450 random samples were generated. Random selection eliminates sampling biases and corresponding criticisms encountered when samples are selected non-random. The sample points were transferred to google earth pro to overlay with digital globe images (high-resolution images) (2006 to 2010 images) to identify the study area classes. The digital globe images with clouds cover of < 10% were selected for sample selection. Then manual classification (visualisation) was done based on high-resolution data. To identify and distinguish land cover classes within the study area. Sample points that fall on areas covered by clouds were also eliminated. To ensure sample representation of each land cover class, each sample location must be at the central point of the homogenous land cover representing the dominant land cover type. Then from this dataset, a portion was selected to train the classification (60%) and another random portion for the validation.

Collection strategies such as single pixel, may be used , but they would influence classification results, especially for classification with fine spatial resolution image data (Chen & Stow, 2002). Therefore, selection of training points, samples must consider the spatial resolution of the remote sensing data being used and the complexity of landscape in the study area. Three dominant vegetation types (mixed woodland, grassland and forest) were identified using high-resolution Digital globe images in Google earth pro. A total number of 400 samples were considered (60% training and 40% validation) for further analysis.

#### 2.3.1 Classification with maximum likelihood classifier

Landsat 8 satellite images were used to classify land cover of Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem into three main vegetation types according to Table 5 below. Supervised classification method was used by applying maximum likelihood classifier (MLC) that is based on parametric density distribution model. MCL was used because of its advantages over other classification techniques such as feasible assimilations, logical interpretations and simple realizations. MLC has been widely applied in remote sensing and it is based on assumptions that the training samples are normally distributed in spectrum space. Classification was done to categorise image pixels into classes by providing training data and using MLC in ENVI software. Majority filter was applied to smooth the classification. Therefore, it changed the spurious pixels within single class to that class. Smooth Kernel size 3 by 3 pixels was used, centre pixel in the kernel was replaced with the class value that the majority of the pixels in the kernel has.

CLASS	Training Pixels	Testing pixels	TOTAL
Arable land	53	31	84
Forest	50	30	80
26' 1 11 1		24	
Mixed woodland	53	31	84
Grassland	54	30	84
Others	54	30	84
Total	264	152	416

Table 5: Reference data for land cover dassification

The same classification procedure was followed for classifying Landsat 8 satellite images combined with topography data (Slope and aspects). Trying to improve the mapping accuracy of the three main vegetation types in the ecosystem.

#### 2.3.2 Accuracy assessment

The accuracy of the classification was assessed using 152 testing samples (40% of total samples) chosen with the stratified random method to represent different area land cover classes with the probability of selection within classes (Congalton, 1991). In any land-cover mapping procedures, it is essential to evaluate the performance of the designed classification method and it gives a chance to experts to have a degree of confidence to the results. This study adopted the commonly used accuracy assessment method in remote sensing, confusion matrix/error matrix. It shows the proportions of correctly classified (overall accuracy) and misclassified pixels in a table matrix. Overall accuracy and kappa statistics are used as quality measures. They are a consequence of producer and user accuracies. The user's and producer's accuracies varied, the user's accuracy and producer's accuracy for forest were relatively stable and higher than those of grassland and mixed woodland (Table 6 & 7). After adding topography data, grassland user's accuracy had a higher increase than other vegetation classes (13.43%). This may suggest that grassland can be better discriminated when considering topographical data. Grassland class also caused most error as compared to other vegetation classes (Table 6 & 7). However, this misclassification may lead to misinterpretation on spatial herbivores abundance interaction with vegetation types. Kappa statistics is useful in evaluating different remote sensing methods because it accounts for the degree of accuracy that can be attained when labels are assigned at random. According to, Cohen, (1960) Kappa coefficient ranges from 0 to 1 and higher value shows better performance. These was done for both the first classification (Landsat 8 images without topographic data) and second classification (Landsat 8 images combined with topographic data).

Classified data		Reference data				
	Forest	Arable	Mixed	Grassland	Others	Total
		land	woodland			
Forest	28	0	0	0	1	29
Arable land	0	30	2	4	5	41
Mixed	2	0	24	4	3	33
woodland						
Grassland	0	1	5	22	0	28
Others	0	0	0	0	21	21
Total	30	31	31	30	30	152

Table 6: Confusion matrix derived measures of dassification accuracy for Landsat 8 multi-season images dassification

Producer's	93.33	96.77	77.42	73.33	70.00	
acc. (%)						
User's acc.	96.55	73.17	72.73	78.57	100	
(%)						
Overall acc. (%) =82.2						
Kappa coefficient $= 0.78$						

Table 7 : Confusion matrix derived measures of dassification for Landsat 8 multi-season images combined with topography data dassification

Classified data	Reference data					
	Forest	Arable	Mixed	Grassland	Others	Total
		land	woodland			
Forest	29	0	0	0	0	29
Arable land	0	29	2	3	2	36
Mixed	0	0	29	3	3	35
woodland						
Grassland	0	1	0	23	1	25
Others	1	1	0	1	24	27
Total	30	31	31	30	30	152
Producer's acc.	96.67	93.55	93.55	76.67	80.00	
(%)						
User's acc. (%)	100	80.56	82.86	92.00	88.89	
Overall acc. (%) =88.2						
Kappa Coefficient = 0.85						

#### 2.4 Determining the relationship between herbivores and vegetation

Herbivores abundance was defined by using a 2 km by 2 km grid that was adopted based on the size of flights lines intervals, which were used during 2008 and 2012 total aerial count surveys. The flights lines intervals varied between one and two kilometres based on the visibility and terrain, but constant in direction and observed interval for each block when possible. Therefore, the finer resolutions was resampled to coarser resolution of two kilometres to adopt same resolution scale. Herbivores species data is in point form representing more than one animals therefore as per representation of a 2 km by 2km grid.

The land cover map (30m resolution data) was downscaled to 250m resolution, to have a similar resolution as the NDVI maps. This was done using data management toolbox in ArcGIS 10.3.1 software. Resampling is necessary when one raster is at a finer resolution than the other, therefore, the finer resolution raster (Landsat 30m) is resampled to the same resolution of the coarser one (MODIS 250m), making all the raster datasets the same resolution. Using a 2km by 2km grid a dominant vegetation cover was assigned per grid as a representative of vegetation type for that grid. Zonal calculations were also done to extract mean NDVI per grid and NDVI standard deviation per grid.

Therefore, vegetation and animal data was linked using this 2km by 2km grid. Within a grid, dominant vegetation cover, mean NDVI (before, during and after drought), NDVI standard deviation (SD) (before, during and after 2009 drought) and herbivores abundance were generated for further analysis (Figure 12). It is advisedly to use dominant cover and mean NDVI (short rains season NDVI) for the location (per grid) because animals data are in point form as a representation of the whole grid. In addition, a mean NDVI per

grid was calculated to represent that location. Mean NDVI was used as a representation of a grid to match the animal data.

![](_page_32_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 12 : Structure of environmental factors used in assessment of herbivores abundance and vegetation in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem

#### 2.5 Statistical analyses

#### Assessment of the normality of data

Assessment of the normality of data is a prerequisite for many statistical tests because normal data is an underlying parametric testing. The graphically and numerically methods are used in assessing normality. The approach can rely on statistical tests or visual inspection. Statistical tests have the advantage of making an objective judgement of normality, but sometimes cannot be sensitive enough at low sample sizes or overly sensitive to large sample sizes. Graphical interpretation allow good judgement to assess normality in situations when tests might be over or under sensitive, but graphical methods do lack objectivity.

For this study, to determine normality graphically we used the output of a normal Q-Q plot. If the data are normally distributed, the points will be close to the diagonal line. If the data points stray from the line in an obvious non-linear fashion, the data are not normally distributed. This was applied for both vegetation productivity and herbivores data normality assessment using SPSS Statistics.

As presented by the Figures below (14, 15 and 16) of Normal Q-Q plots, the vegetation productivity data is not normally distributed, the data points for both years are deviating from Normal way.

![](_page_33_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 13 : Shows how vegetation productivity values in 2008 are expected to look like in a normal way (left side) and how they deviate from normal way (right side).

![](_page_33_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 14: Shows how vegetation productivity values in 2009 are expected to be normal (left side) and how they deviate from normal way (right side).

![](_page_33_Figure_5.jpeg)

Figure 15 : Shows how vegetation productivity values in 2012 are expected to be normal (left side) and how they deviate from normal way (right side)

As presented by the Figures below (16 and 17), both 2008 and 2012 herbivore estimates are not normal distributed, both estimates deviate from normal distribution.

![](_page_34_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 16 : Show how 2008 herbivorous estimates are expected to be distributed in a normal way (left) and how they deviate from normal distribution (right)

![](_page_34_Figure_4.jpeg)

Figure 17 : Shows how herbivorous estimates are expected to be distributed in normal way (left) and how they deviate from normal distribution

Based on the above normality assessment, a non-parametric testing is considered for both vegetation and herbivores data. Figure 18 below was followed to choose a statistical test to use for further analyses.

![](_page_35_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 18: Algorithm for test selection for group comparison of continuous endpoint (du Prel, Röhrig, Hommel, & Blettner, 2010)

➢ Statistical tests

For Null hypothesis that adding topographic data cannot significantly improve the mapping accuracy of the three main vegetation types was tested using Kappa calculation and Z-test. It was used to check significance difference of the classified maps based on accuracy parameters.

The null hypothesis that the NDVI within each of the vegetation types were not different between 2008, 2009 and 2012 was tested using Friedman test to pick short-term decline in NDVI caused by drought. The test was also applied for variability of productivity within the three main vegetation types. However, it does not pinpoint which groups in particular differ from each other. Then post hoc test was applied by using a Bonferroni adjustment on the results from the Wilcoxon tests to avoid Type I error (declaring a result significant when it should not). When using the Bonferroni adjustment, the initially significance level (0.05) is divide by number of tests to run. Therefore, in this case we have a new significance level of .05/3 = 0.017. This means that if the p-value is larger than 0.017, we do not have a statistically significant result. Observations were selected randomly to create a subset to get a more representative set (half of the observations), because small data set increases the risk of a type-I error (not rejecting the null hypothesis while you should) and a large dataset increases the risk of a type-II error (rejecting null hypothesis while you should). Wilcoxon Signed-rank test was conducted in R program.

To examine where the differences actually occur, Wilcoxon signed-rank tests was done separately on the different combinations of related groups. Therefore, i compared the following combinations:

- 1. NDVI 08 to NDVI 09
- 2. NDVI 08 to NDVI 12
- 3. NDVI 09 to NDVI 12

The Wilcoxon Signed-rank test, as a non-parametric equivalent of a paired t-test, was also used to compare the differences in population estimates before and after drought within the three main vegetation types. It was used to pick short-term decline in population estimates caused by drought. This applied at significance level of 0.05.

## 3 RESULTS

#### 3.1 Vegetation mapping and accuracy assessment

Vegetation classification maps are presented in Figure 19; displaying the land cover classification with multiseason images without topographic data and figure 20; displaying land cover classification with multi-season images combined with topography data. In Figure 19, classification results obtained an overall accuracy of 82.2% and a kappa coefficient of 0.78 (Table 6). The map shown by Figure 20, After adding topography data (slope and aspect) overall accuracy raised to 88.2% and kappa Coefficient of 0.85 (Table 7). However, there is visual difference between Figure 19 and 20. This classification of land cover results is good and accurate enough to be involved in the further analyses of herbivore and vegetation interaction.

![](_page_36_Figure_4.jpeg)

Figure 19 : Land cover map after multi-season dassification without topography data

![](_page_37_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 20: Land cover map after multi-season dassification with topography data induded

Using Z-test for kappa coefficients to test the significant difference between the two maps, results did not show any significant difference between land cover classification map generated without topographic data and the one where topography was incorporated. The calculated Z value was 1.42 which was less than t=1.96 ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).

## 3.2 Change of vegetation productivities for the three vegetation types before, during, and after the drought

To compare vegetation productivity, Friedman test was used to test if there were statistically significant differences in vegetation productivity before, during and after drought within the three vegetation types (grassland, mixed woodland and forest) and results are presented in Table 8. The result show that there is high significant difference of vegetation productivity between the three vegetation types at significance level of  $p \le 0.05$  leading to a conclusion that the mean of NDVI within each of three vegetation types before, during and after are not equal (p = 0.001). However, is not possible tell which group or groups are different from the other. Boxplots were constructed to visualize the change in NDVI before, during and after drought (Figure 21).

Test Statistics <sup>a</sup>			
Ν	4339		
Chi-Square	6445.549		
df	2		
Asymp. Sig.	0.001		

Table 8 : Table showing the significance results using Friedman Test

a. Friedman Test

![](_page_38_Figure_1.jpeg)

MEAN NDVI FOR 2008, 2009 AND 2012 PER LANDCOVER

![](_page_38_Figure_3.jpeg)

Since the group mean NDVI of the three vegetation types are different, a post hoc test analysis was carried out for comparisons of vegetation productivity data. The Post hoc analysis with Wilcoxon signed-rank tests was conducted with a Bonferroni correction applied, resulting in significance level set at p < 0.017. Results show that there was significant decline in vegetation productivity between 2008 and 2009 within the three vegetation types (p < 0.001) as presented in table 9. Significant decline was also detected in vegetation productivity between 2009 and 2012 within the three vegetation types (p < 0.001). However, significant change in vegetation productivity between 2008 and 2012 was not detect in grassland and mixed woodland (p = 0.060 and 0.028 respectively). This may suggests that grassland and mixed woodland may have recovered over time from drought, while there was also significant decline in forest productivity between the same period (p = 0.007). This may suggests that forest might have been recovering slower than the grassland and mixed woodland over time from drought.

Table 9 : Wilcoxon test results for mean NDVI significance difference for the three vegetation types

Vegetation types	2008NDVI	2008 NDVI	2009 NDVI
	and	and	and
	2009NDVI	2012 NDVI	2012 NDVI
Grassland	<i>p</i> < 0.001	p = 0.060	<i>p</i> < 0.001
Mixed Woodland	<i>p</i> < 0.001	p = 0.028	<i>p</i> < 0.001
Forest	<i>p</i> < 0.001	p = 0.007	<i>p</i> < 0.001

There variability of vegetation productivity for the whole study period was tested whether there were differences in variability of NDVI within the three vegetation types also using the Friedman test. Results showed that there was a significant variation of NDVI within the three vegetation types using the standard deviation approach as presented in Table 10. The post hoc analysis with Wilcoxon signed-rank tests was then used to check the significant difference in standard deviation of the three vegetation types at significance level of 0.017. Standard deviation between 2008 and 2012. Boxplots were constructed to visualise standard deviation of vegetation productivity within the three vegetation types between 2008 and 2012. Results show that there is no significant difference between the mean NDVI standard deviation within the three vegetation types between 2008 and 2012 as presented in figure 22.

![](_page_39_Figure_2.jpeg)

#### STANDARD DEVIATION NDVI FOR 2008, 2009 AND 2012 PER LANDCOVER

Figure 22: Boxplots of NDVI standard deviation for the three main vegetation types before, during and after drought.

The Test Statistics presented in Table 10 show the overall statistically differences in variability of NDVI between 2008 and 2012 within the three vegetation types (p = 0.001), but it does not shows which groups in particular differ from each other.

Table 10 : The table shows the significance results of using Friedman Test

Test Statistics <sup>a</sup>			
Ν	4339		
Chi-Square	7149.763		
df	2		
Asymp. Sig.	0.001		

a. Friedman Test

The post hoc tests results are presented in table 11. The Post hoc analysis with Wilcoxon signed-rank tests was conducted with a Bonferroni correction applied, resulting in significance level set at p<0.017. There was a statistically significant difference in variability of vegetation productivity within grassland and mixed woodland between 2008 and 2009 then 2009 and 2012 (p < 0.017). This may suggest that vegetation was

not in a stable state over that period. There was no significant difference in variability within the three vegetation types between 2008 and 2012 there, suggesting that vegetation cover was in a stable state over time.

Table 11: Wilcoxon test results for significant differences in variability of mean NDVI within the three vegetation types.

Vegetation types	2008 SD	2008 SD	2009 SD
	and	and	and
	2009 SD	2012 SD	2012 SD
Grassland	p = 0.006	p = 0.499	<i>p</i> = 0.011
Mixed Woodland	p = 0.001	p = 0.102	<i>p</i> = 0.012
Forest	p = 0.095	p = 0.274	<i>p</i> = 0.668

#### 3.3 Change of herbivores abundance within the three vegetation types before and after the drought

The Null hypothesis that the herbivore estimates were not significantly different before and after 2009 drought was tested using Wilcoxon-test, to pick short-term decline in herbivore numbers, with significant level set at P-value of 0.05. A non- parametric was used because the population estimates were not normally distributed. Figure 23 shows plots of herbivore estimates within the three main vegetation types against time during the study period. Then we tested whether there was change in herbivores abundance within the three vegetation types after 2009 drought. In 2008 overall herbivores numbers within the three main vegetation types were 23 685 animals, 4 661 browser, 4 444 mixed feeders and 14 580 grazers. The number reduced to 11 741 animals within the three main vegetation types in 2012 after the 2009 drought, which can also be seen in figure 23.

The population of herbivore species consistently declined after the drought, although there was an increase of browsers and grazers in forest which increased by 12.3% and 29.8% respectively. In grassland, mixed feeders were more affected with a population decline of 66.1%, followed by grazers with 46.7% decline and browsers with a decline of 40.6%. There was a significant decline in grazers and mixed feeders (p = 0.001 and p = 0.002 respectively) in grassland as shown in Table 12, while there was no significant change in the population of Browsers (p = 0.090) at significance level of  $p \le 0.05$ . This suggests that the population of browsers may have remained stable over time in Grassland.

Grazers were mostly affected in mixed woodland with a decline of 70.6%, followed by mixed feeder with a decline of 46.1% and browsers with a decline of 19.3%. Grazers and mixed feeders significantly declined with p-value of 0.004 and 0.001 respectively while there was no significant change in the population of Browsers over time (p = 0.074) as presented in Table 12. It suggests that population of browsers may also have remained stable in mixed woodland.

There was no significant change in the populations of both groups (browsers, grazers and mixed feeders) in forest (p > 0.05) (Table 12). This suggests that the population of these groups may have remained stable over time. The null hypothesis, that populations of herbivores were not significantly different before and after 2009 drought was rejected and we conclude that grazers and mixed feeders significantly declined. This suggest that grazer and mixed feeder numbers may have been unstable between before and after 2009 drought.

![](_page_41_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 23: Herbivore estimates within three main vegetation types in 2008 and 2012

Table 12: Wilcoxon test significance differences results for herbivores estimates within the three main vegetation types before and after 2009 drought

Vegetation types	Browsers 2008	Grazers 2008	Mixed Feeders 2008
	and	and	and
	Browser 2012	Grazers 2012	Mixed Feeder 2012
Grassland	p = 0.090	p = 0.001	p = 0.002
Mixed Woodland	p = 0.074	p = 0.004	<i>p</i> < 0.001
Forest	p = 0.543	p = 0.430	p = 0.563

Null hypothesis that the population estimates for medium and large grazers were not significant different before and after 2009 was tested using Wilcoxon-test, to pick short-term decline in grazers caused by 2009 drought. A non- parametric was used because the population estimates were not normally distributed. Total number of gazers were 14 580 in 2008 and decreased to 6 502 grazers in 2012 after the 2009 drought. Medium grazers were mostly affected and declined by 58.1% while larger grazers declined by 38.7% which can also be seen in figure 24. The large and medium grazers population declined in grassland and mixed woodland while in forest their population of large grazer increased by 97.8% and medium grazers declined by 50.8%.

In grassland, there was significant decline in medium grazer estimates (p = 0.001) while there was no significant change in large grazers (p = 0.070) as shown in Table 13. This suggest that the population of large grazers may have remained stable in grassland over time while in mixed woodland, there was significant decline in both groups (medium grazers p = 0.010 and large grazers p = 0.001). There was no significant change in the population of both groups (medium grazers p = 0.995 and large grazers p = 0.377) in forest (Table 13). This suggest that the population of these groups may have remained stable over time. The null hypothesis, that populations of medium and large grazers were not significantly different before and after 2009 drought was rejected. We conclude that medium grazers significantly declined in both grassland and mixed woodland, while large grazers significantly decline only in mixed woodland.

![](_page_42_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 24: Medium grazer and large grazers estimate within the three main vegetation types before and after 2009 drought.

Table 13: Wilcoxon test significance difference results for Grazers estimates within three main vegetation types before and after 2009 drought

Vegetation types	Medium grazers 2008	Large grazers 2008	
	and	and	
	Medium grazers 2012	Large grazers 2012	
Grassland	p = 0.001	p = 0.070	
Mixed Woodland	p = 0.010	p = 0.001	
Forest	p = 0.995	p = 0.377	

## 4 **DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 Improved vegetation mapping accuracy with the contribution of ancillary topographic data

To understand the dynamics of Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem, information on the spatial distribution of vegetation is needed. In this study, mapping ecosystem vegetation was successfully done by using medium resolution (30m) multi-season Landsat 8 images (dry and wet season images). Land cover map of three main vegetation types was produced (grassland, forest and mixed-woodland). The overall accuracy of 82.2 % was obtained with a kappa coefficient of 0.78 (Table 6). In savanna ecosystem, land cover classification is a challenge because of land surface reflectance that shows intra annual variation due to phenology. Information from different seasons may help to discriminate between vegetation types based on available information at different times of the year. This helped to avoid confusion between grassland and others such as bare land and arable land. Phenological changes of vegetation and availability of high temporal resolution remote sensing data lead to use multi-temporal remote sensing images which has been applied in other studies like the studies by (Joshi et al., 2001) and (Chacón-Moreno, 2004).

The combination of spectral data and topography data (slope and aspects) improved mapping overall accuracy and kappa coefficient. However, it was not visually evident in figures 19 and 20. The classification results demonstrate that an increase of overall accuracy has been achieved by combining spectral data with topographical data but there was no significant difference between the two maps when using the Z-test for kappa coefficients.

Mapping ecosystem vegetation and assessment of its productivity is an important aspect of ecosystem management. This study mapped the vegetation of Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem and estimated its vegetation productivity linked it to herbivores abundance. The 2009 drought may have affected the productivity of forage in the ecosystem. The patterns of change in NDVI showed decreases in NDVI in 2009, which was due to the drought year, for three vegetation types. The three vegetation types showed recovery from the drought which is shown by the NDVI increase in 2012 (non-drought year) (Figure 21).Higher NDVI values in 2008 and 2012 may reflect greater vigour and greenness of the vegetation as compared to drought year. It is evident that there was a significant decline in vegetation productivity during drought year (2009) within the three vegetation types as shown by the P value of less than 0.017 proving the instability in three main vegetation types.

The findings also show that there is no significant difference in vegetation production variability within the three main vegetation types before and after drought as shown by the P-value of more than 0.017. However, there is significant difference in vegetation variability between non-drought years (2008 and 2012) and drought year in Grassland as shown by the P-value of less than 0.017 and mixed woodland as shown by the P-value of less than 0.017 only. This shows that the ecosystem have differing resilience characteristics and response pathways of drought as shown by the forest, which resisted the drought period. This resistance of an ecosystem to disturbance and speed recovery mark ecosystem stability (Pimm, 1984). Results of this study are in line with previous studies which studies that the differences in the physiological response of plant species to drought determine different levels of resistance and resilience to water deficits (Chaves et.al., 2003; McDowell et al., 2008) and influencing the type of impact of a drought. By differentiating those that slow in growth (Pasho et.al., 2011) or reduce greenness (Ji & Peters, 2003) and those that lead to loss of biomass (Ciais et al., 2005). And also those that result in plant mortality (Allen et al., 2010; Adams et al., 2009). This NDVI decrease in 2009 shows that drought can reduce productivity and alter forage quality in grassland and mixed woodland.

#### 4.2 Impact of drought on herbivores distribution

Impact of drought on herbivores distribution was assessed in this study. Almost all the species declined in numbers after 2009 drought in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem. Most of the animals were located within grassland (13 037) and mixed woodland (10 187) and only 461 animals in the forest in 2008 (before drought). The few animals observed in forest may be due to underestimation as some animals may have been hiding under vegetation cover, which is thick, or dense causing visibility problems. Herbivores numbers declined to 11 741 in 2012 (after drought), with 6 516 in grassland, 4 671 in mixed woodland. However, there was an increase in the forest to 554 herbivores. This decline in herbivores numbers in Laikipia –Samburu ecosystem after drought, may have been influenced by a combination of different factors such as counting errors and biases, climatic effects, habitat changes, competition for forage resources, and poaching, among other factors.

When using Wilcoxon signed-rank tests, results show that there was a significant decline in grazers and mixed feeders in grassland as shown by the P-value of less than 0.05 while there was no significant change in the population of Browsers as shown by a P-value of more than 0.05 (Table 12). Grazers and mixed feeders also significantly declined in mixed woodland shown by a P-value of less than 0.05 while there was no significant change in browser over time in mixed woodland as shown by a P-value of more than 0.05. There was no significant changes in the populations of both groups (browsers, grazers and mixed feeders) in forest (p > 0.05) (Table 12). This result suggest that the 2009 drought may have been the other cause of decline in grazers and mixed feeders in mixed woodland and grassland.

There was significant decline of medium grazer while there was no significant change in large grazers in grassland (Table 13).In mixed woodland, there was significant decline in both groups (medium and large grazers). There was no significant changes in the population of both groups in forest (Table 13). Results show that medium grazers significantly declined in both grassland and mixed woodland, while large grazers significantly decline only in mixed woodland. Species that maintained high abundance through the dry phase were likewise diverse in their feeding habits. The distribution of medium grazers may have been highly influenced by forage quality than that of larger grazers.

If a vegetation type was strongly affected by drought, species associated to that vegetation types may also have been affected. This was shown by the decline of medium grazers, which can be associated to the decline in vegetation productivity in grassland and mixed woodland they feed on, which was affected by the 2009 drought.

The drought is one of the environmental factors that is highly listed as an explanatory variable for the decline of most wildlife species (Sitati et al., 2014). This caused by climate variability, particularly precipitation, which affect the production of plant material and hence, in carrying capacity of the ecosystem (Coe et al., 1976). The status of wildlife in the year 2008 and 2012 was assessed in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem to determine the impacts of the drought on their populations. There was a rapid decline in the population of most animals, especially the grazers. Grazers are more affected by annual rainfall variability than browsers, because the herbaceous layer responds more strongly to annual precipitation than does the woody component of savanna vegetation (Rutherford, 1984). The amount of grass growth, and hence food supply to grazers, depends on the amount and distribution of rainfall.

The severe and prolonged 2009 drought affected much of East Africa had a severe impact upon Kenya. Vast areas became parched and barren; wildlife numbers decreased and died of thirst and starvation Droughts are a significant component of such climatic variability, and can have a devastating impact on animal populations (Young, 1994; Foley et al., 2008) . Through processes such as recurrent reductions in

population numbers and the consequent genetic effects caused by demographic bottlenecks (Young, 1994), droughts have the potential to lead populations, and entire species, to extinction.

## 5 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMEDATION

#### 5.1 Conclusion

The main objective of this study is to investigate impacts of the 2009 drought on vegetation productivity and spatial distribution of the herbivores in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem in Kenya. This study demonstrated a successful approach for investigation using techniques of remote sensing and geographic information system. The ecosystem environmental factors (herbivores estimates, vegetation types and vegetation productivity) were successful linked together using a 2km by 2km grid, the scale used during herbivores counting surveys. For this study, we explored three accepts corresponding to the research objectives:

- a) Vegetation types, which is most important factor to herbivores as forage, thus was identified using multi-season Landsat 8 and topographic data.
- b) Vegetation productivity estimations from satellite derived vegetation information from time series MODIS NDVI and compared between non-drought years and drought year.
- c) Herbivores abundance and vegetation interaction was assessed before and after the 2009 drought.
- ➤ Multi-season Landsat 8 data combined with topographic data was used successfully to improve mapping accuracy of the three main vegetation types. The outcome of this study shows that there was no significant different (Z<1.96) between the two maps even though they was an increase in overall accuracy. We conclude that classification results demonstrate that an improvement in overall accuracy can be achieved but with no significant difference between the two maps. Therefore, integrating topographic data with multispectral data, it improves interpretation potential.</p>
- Time series MODIS NDVI data can be used as a surrogate measure of forage availability and successful predict vegetation productivity to compare non-drought year and drought year.
- Impact of drought in herbivores abundance and vegetation interaction was successfully quantified. The rapid decline in herbivores populations can be attributed to drought that lead to competition for forage among others. Results of this study indicate that vegetation productivity during drought had influence on the population dynamics of herbivores in the Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem. The vegetation productivity during drought year shows food production for herbivores. Ecologically, drought leads to reduction in availability of forage and water resources which in turn become limiting factors to wildlife due to starvation. This was shown by decline in herbivores numbers after the 2009 drought.

Climate variability like droughts prevalence is a one of the major factors responsible for unexpected dying of large populations of animal over wide areas (Ottichilo et al., 2000). For example, in Kenya's rangelands, the 2000 severe drought caused high mortality and decline in the population of large herbivores (Kanga et al., 2013).

The expected response to the drought was a decline of the population estimate followed by a recovery thereafter. Visual inspection of data presented here show that there was recovery in vegetation productivity after 2009 drought but not certain with animal population estimates during drought year, because there was no animal estimates for drought year to quantify the impact. Hence, we conclude that our data provide evidence to support the hypothesis that the decline of herbivores was caused by the 2009 droughts based on forage availability.

#### 5.2 Recommendation

From this research, the decline in herbivores numbers in Laikipia-Samburu ecosystem after drought may have been influenced by a combination of different factors. Therefore, is highly recommended that a further research can be carried out considering other environmental factors such as poaching, predators among other factors.

### LIST OF REFERENCES

- Adams, H. D., Guardiola-Claramonte, M., Barron-Gafford, G. A., Villegas, J. C., Breshears, D. D., Zou, C. B., ... Huxman, T. E. (2009). Temperature sensitivity of drought-induced tree mortality portends increased regional die-off under global-change-type drought. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(17), 7063–6. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0901438106
- Allen, C. D., Macalady, A. K., Chenchouni, H., Bachelet, D., McDowell, N., Vennetier, M., ... Cobb, N. (2010). A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 259(4), 660–684. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.09.001
- Bailey, D. W., & Provenza, F. D. (2007, November 1). Mechanisms determining large-herbivore distribution. *Frontis*. Retrieved from http://library.wur.nl/ojs/index.php/frontis/article/view/1534
- Bailey, D. W., & Provenza, F. D. (2008). Resource Ecology. (H. H. T. Prins & F. Van Langevelde, Eds.). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6850-8
- BARKHAM, J. P., & RAINY, M. E. (1976). The vegetation of the Samburu–Isiolo Game Reserve. African Journal of Ecology, 14(4), 297–329. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2028.1976.tb00244.x
- Bartholomeus, R. P., Witte, J. P. M., & Runhaar, J. (2012). Drought stress and vegetation characteristics on sites with different slopes and orientations. *Ecohydrology*, 5(6), 808–818. http://doi.org/10.1002/eco.271
- Batisani, N., & Yarnal, B. (2010). Rainfall variability and trends in semi-arid Botswana: Implications for climate change adaptation policy. *Applied Geography*, 30(4), 483–489. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2009.10.007
- Baumont, R., Prache, S., Meuret, M., & Morand-Fehr, P. (2000). How forage characteristics influence behaviour and intake in small ruminants: a review. *Livestock Production Science*, 64(1), 15–28. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(00)00172-X
- Bellard, C., Bertelsmeier, C., Leadley, P., Thuiller, W., & Courchamp, F. (2012). Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. *Ecology Letters*, 15(4), 365–77. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01736.x
- Beltran-Abaunza, J. (2009). Method development to process hyper-temporal remote sensing (RS) images for change mapping. 2009 *MSc theses GEM*. Retrieved from http://www.itc.nl/library/papers\_2009/msc/gem/beltran-abaunza.pdf
- Bennie, J., Huntley, B., Wiltshire, A., Hill, M. O., & Baxter, R. (2008). Slope, aspect and climate: Spatially explicit and implicit models of topographic microclimate in chalk grassland. *Ecological Modelling*, 216(1), 47–59. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2008.04.010
- Biro, K., Pradhan, B., Buchroithner, M., & Makeschin, F. (2013). Land Use/Land Cover Change Analysis and Its Impact on Soil Properties in the Northern Part of Gadarif Region, Sudan. Land Degradation & Development, 24(April 2011), 90–102. http://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.1116
- Boone, R. B., Thirgood, S. J., & Hopcraft, J. G. C. (2006). Serengeti wildbeest migratory patterns modeled from rainfall and new vegetation growth. *Ecology*, 87(8), 1987–1994. http://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[1987:SWMPMF]2.0.CO;2
- Breshears, D. D., Cobb, N. S., Rich, P. M., Price, K. P., Allen, C. D., Balice, R. G., ... Meyer, C. W. (2005). Regional vegetation die-off in response to global-change-type drought. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(42), 15144–8. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0505734102
- Chacón-Moreno, E. J. (2004). Mapping savanna ecosystems of the Llanos del Orinoco using

multitemporal NOAA satellite imagery. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 5(1), 41–53. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2003.08.003

- Chaves, M. M., Maroco, J. P., & Pereira, J. S. (2003). Understanding plant responses to drought From genes to the whole plant. *Functional Plant Biology*, *30*(3), 239–264. http://doi.org/10.1071/FP02076
- Chen, D., & Stow, D. (2002). The Effect of Training Strategies on Supervised Classification at Different Spatial Resolutions. *Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing*, 68(11), 1155–1161.
- Ciais, P., Reichstein, M., Viovy, N., Granier, A., Ogée, J., Allard, V., ... Valentini, R. (2005). Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by the heat and drought in 2003. *Nature*, 437(7058), 529– 33. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature03972
- Coe, M. J., Cumming, D. H., & Phillipson, J. (1976). Biomass and production of large African herbivores in relation to rainfall and primary production. *Oecologia*, 22(4), 341–354. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00345312
- Cohen, J. (1960). A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. This Week's Citation Classic, 20(3), 37-46.
- Congalton, R. G. (1991). A review of assessing the accuracy of classifications of remotely sensed data. Remote Sensing of Environment, 37(1), 35–46. http://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(91)90048-B
- de Leeuw, J. et al. (1998). Land-Use Planning: an Introduction for Policy Makers. East. Retrieved from ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/011/i0821e/i0821e01.pdf
- Debinski, D., & Humphrey, P. (1997). An integrated Approach to Biological Diversity Assessment. *Nat. Area J.*, *17*(4), 355 365.
- du Prel, J.-B., Röhrig, B., Hommel, G., & Blettner, M. (2010). Choosing statistical tests: part 12 of a series on evaluation of scientific publications. *Dentsches Arzteblatt International*, 107(19), 343–348. http://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2010.0343
- Dublin, H. T., Sinclair, A. R. E., Boutin, S., Anderson, E., Jago, M., & Arcese, P. (1990). Does competition regulate ungulate populations? Further evidence from Serengeti, Tanzania. *Oecologia*, 82(2), 283–288. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00323546
- Easterling, D. R., Meehl, G. A., Parmesan, C., Changnon, S. A., Karl, T. R., & Mearns, L. O. (2000). Climate Extremes: Observations, Modeling, and Impacts. *Science*, 289(5487), 2068–2074. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.289.5487.2068
- Foden, W., Mace, G., Vié, J., Angulo, A., Butchart, S., Devantier, L., ... Turak, E. (2008). Species susceptibility to climate change impacts. *Ariadne*, 75(1), 1–11. http://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01630-08
- Foley, C., Pettorelli, N., & Foley, L. (2008). Severe drought and calf survival in elephants. *Biology Letters*, 4(5), 541–544. http://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2008.0370
- Frost, P., Medina, E., Menaut, J., Solbrig, O., Swift, M., & Walker, B. (1986). Responses of savannas to stress and disturbance. *Biology International*.
- Garcia, R. A., Burgess, N. D., Cabeza, M., Rahbek, C., & Araújo, M. B. (2012). Exploring consensus in 21st century projections of climatically suitable areas for African vertebrates. *Global Change Biology*, 18(4), 1253–1269. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02605.x
- Garel, M., Loison, A., Gaillard, J.-M., Cugnasse, J.-M., & Maillard, D. (2004). The effects of a severe drought on mouflon lamb survival. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 271(Suppl\_6), S471–S473. http://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2004.0219
- Georgiadis, N. J., Olwero, J. G. N., Ojwang', G., & Romañach, S. S. (2007). Savanna herbivore dynamics in a livestock-dominated landscape: I. Dependence on land use, rainfall, density, and time. *Biological Conservation*, 137(3), 461–472. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2007.03.005

Gorokhovich, Y., & Voustianiouk, a. (2006). Accuracy assessment of the processed SRTM-based

elevation data by CGIAR using field data from USA and Thailand and its relation to the terrain characteristics. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 104(4), 409–415. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2006.05.012

- Gutiérrez-Jurado, H. A., Vivoni, E. R., Harrison, J. B. J., & Guan, H. (2006). Ecohydrology of root zone water fluxes and soil development in complex semiarid rangelands. *Hydrological Processes*, 20(15), 3289–3316. http://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.6333
- Hanley, T. A. (1997). A nutritional view of understanding and complexity in the problem of diet selection by deer (Cervidae) [review]. Retrieved January 25, 2016, from http://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=DK9721644
- Higgins, M. A., Asner, G. P., Perez, E., Elespuru, N., Tuomisto, H., Ruokolainen, K., & Alonso, A. (2012). Use of Landsat and SRTM Data to Detect Broad-Scale Biodiversity Patterns in Northwestern Amazonia. *Remote Sensing*, 4(12), 2401–2418. http://doi.org/10.3390/rs4082401
- Hofton, M. A., Malavassi, E., & Blair, J. B. (2006). Quantifying recent pyroclastic and lava flows at Arenal Volcano, Costa Rica, using medium-footprint lidar. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *33*(21), L21306. http://doi.org/10.1029/2006GL027822
- Huntley, B., & Barnard, P. (2012). Potential impacts of climatic change on southern African birds of fynbos and grassland biodiversity hotspots. *Diversity and Distributions*, *18*(8), 769–781. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2012.00890.x
- Ivan Campbell, Sarah Dalrymple, Rob Craig, A. C. (2009). Climate Change and Conflict: Lessons from community conservancies in northern Kenya | IISD. Retrieved November 11, 2015, from https://www.iisd.org/publications/climate-change-and-conflict-lessons-community-conservancies-northern-kenya
- Ji, L., & Peters, A. J. (2003). Assessing vegetation response to drought in the northern Great Plains using vegetation and drought indices. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 87(1), 85–98. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00174-3
- John, H., Senyimba, M., & Imbamba, S. (2008). Implications of climate change on rangeland productivity in Kenya. Nairobi, Kenya.
- Jolly, G. M. (2015, December 11). Sampling Methods for Aerial Censuses of Wildlife Populations. *East African Agricultural and Forestry Journal*. Taylor & Francis. Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00128325.1969.11662347?journalCode=teaf20
- Joshi, J., Schmid, B., Caldeira, M. C., Dimitrakopoulos, P. G., Good, J., Harris, R., ... Lawton, J. H. (2001). Local adaptation enhances performance of common plant species. *Ecology Letters*, 4(6), 536–544. http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2001.00262.x
- Kanga, E. M., Ogutu, J. O., Piepho, H. P., & Olff, H. (2013). Hippopotamus and livestock grazing: Influences on riparian vegetation and facilitation of other herbivores in the Mara Region of Kenya. Landscape and Ecological Engineering, 9(1), 47–58. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11355-011-0175-y
- Kioko, M. J. B. (2013). Who stole the rain? The case of recent severe droughts in Kenya. *European Scientific Journal*, 9(5), 29–40.
- Kirkpatrick, J. ., & and Nunez, M. (1980). Vegetation-Radiation Relationships in Mountainous Terrain: Eucalypt-Dominated Vegetation in the Risdon Hills, Tasmania on JSTOR. *Journal of Biogeography*, 7(2), 197–208. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2844711?seq=1#page\_scan\_tab\_contents
- Knapp, A. K., & Smith, M. D. (2001). Variation among biomes in temporal dynamics of aboveground primary production. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 291(5503), 481–4. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.291.5503.481
- Li, L., Gao, J., & Sethuramalingam, B. (2015). a Survey of Remote Sensing Image.

- Litoroh, M., Ihwangi, F. W., Mayienda, R., Bernard, J., & Douglas-Hamilton, I. (2010). Total Aerial Count of Elephants in Laikipia-Samburu Ecosystem. Retrieved from http://www.savetheelephants.org/scientificpublications/
- Lu, D., & Weng, Q. (2007). A survey of image classification methods and techniques for improving classification performance. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 28(5), 823–870. http://doi.org/10.1080/01431160600746456
- McDowell, N., Pockman, W. T., Allen, C. D., Breshears, D. D., Cobb, N., Kolb, T., ... Yepez, E. A. (2008). Mechanisms of plant survival and mortality during drought: why do some plants survive while others succumb to drought? *The New Phytologist*, *178*(4), 719–39. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02436.x
- Meyers, L. A., & Bull, J. J. (2002). Fighting change with change: Adaptive variation in an uncertain world. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 17(12), 551–557. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(02)02633-2
- Midgley, G. F., Hannah, L., Millar, D., Thuiller, W., & Booth, A. (2003). Developing regional and specieslevel assessments of climate change impacts on biodiversity in the Cape Floristic Region. *Biological Conservation*, 112(1-2), 87–97. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(02)00414-7
- Mishra, N. B., & Crews, K. A. (2014). Mapping vegetation morphology types in a dry savanna eco system: integrating hierarchical object-based image analysis with Random Forest. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*. Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/01431161.2013.876120
- Ndegwa Mundia, C., & Murayama, Y. (2009). Analysis of Land Use/Cover Changes and Animal Population Dynamics in a Wildlife Sanctuary in East Africa. *Remote Sensing*, 1(4), 952–970. http://doi.org/10.3390/rs1040952
- Ngene, S., Mukeka, J., Ihwagi, F., Mathenge, J., Wandera, A., Tobias, N., ... Zeke, P. G. (2013). Total aerial count of elephants , Grevy's zebra and other large mammals in Laikipia-Samburu-Marsabit Ecosystem in November 2012. Nairobi, Kenya.
- Nicholson, L. I., Prinz, R., Mölg, T., & Kaser, G. (2013). Micrometeorological conditions and surface mass and energy fluxes on Lewis Glacier, Mt Kenya, in relation to other tropical glaciers. *Cryosphere*, 7(4), 1205–1225. http://doi.org/10.5194/tc-7-1205-2013
- Ogutu, J. O., & Owen-Smith, N. (2003). ENSO, rainfall and temperature influences on extreme population declines among African savanna ungulates. *Ecology Letters*, 6(5), 412–419. http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2003.00447.x
- Onyango, O. D. (2015). Application of hyper-temporal NDVI data in grassland mapping and biomass estimation in the Masai mara ecosystem, *KENYA*.
- Ottichilo, W. K., De Leeuw, J., Skidmore, A. K., Prins, H. H. T., & Said, M. Y. (2000). Population trends of large non-migratory wild herbivores and livestock in the Masai Mara ecosystem, Kenya, between 1977 and 1997. *African Journal of Ecology*, *38*, 202–216. http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2028.2000.00242.x
- Owen-Smith, N. (1990). Demography of a Large Herbivore, the Greater Kudu Tragelaphus strepsiceros, in Relation to Rainfall on JSTOR. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 59(No.3), 893–913. http://doi.org/10.2307/5021
- Pasho, E., Camarero, J. J., de Luis, M., & Vicente-Serrano, S. M. (2011). Impacts of drought at different time scales on forest growth across a wide climatic gradient in north-eastern Spain. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, *151*(12), 1800–1811. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2011.07.018
- Pettorelli, N., Vik, J. O., Mysterud, A., Gaillard, J. M., Tucker, C. J., & Stenseth, N. C. (2005). Using the satellite-derived NDVI to assess ecological responses to environmental change. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 20(9), 503–510. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.05.011
- Pimm, S. L. (1984). The complexity and stability of ecosystems. Nature, 307(1), 321-326.

http://doi.org/10.1007/s13398-014-0173-7.2

- Quattrochi, D. A., & Pelletier, R. E. (1991). Remote sensing for analysis of landscapes: an introduction. *Ecological Studies*, 82, 51–76. Retrieved from http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheN&cpsidt=5508021
- Reddy, V. S., & Reddy, A. S. N. (2004). Proteomics of calcium-signaling components in plants. *Phytochemistry*, 65(12), 1745–1776. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2004.04.033
- Ricchetti, E. (2000). Multispectral satellite image and ancillary data integration for geological classification. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing*, (April), 429–435.
- Rutherford, M. C. (1984). Relative allocation and seasonal phasing of growth of woody plant components in a South African Savanna. Retrieved January 24, 2016, from http://agris.fao.org/agrissearch/search.do?recordID=US201302034284
- Sala, O. E., Gherardi, L. A., Reichmann, L., Jobbágy, E., & Peters, D. (2012). Legacies of precipitation fluctuations on primary production: theory and data synthesis. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 367(1606), 3135–44. http://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0347
- Saltz, D., Rubenstein, D. I., & White, G. C. (2006). The impact of increased environmental stochasticity due to climate change on the dynamics of asiatic wild ass. *Conservation Biology*, 20(5), 1402–1409. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2006.00486.x
- Senft, R. L., Coughenour, M. B., Bailey, D. W., Rittenhouse, L. R., Sala, O. E., & Swift, D. M. (1987). Large herbivore foraging and ecological hierarchies. *BioScience*. http://doi.org/10.2307/1310545
- Shukla, J., Nobre, C., & Sellers, P. (1990). Amazon Deforestation and Climate Change. *Science*, 247(4948), 1322–1325.
- Sitati, N., Lekishon, K., Bakari, S., Warinwa, F., Mwiu, S. N., Gichohi, N., ... Mukeka, J. (2014). Wildebeest (*Connochaetes taurinus*) Population Densities and Distribution in Dry and Wet Season in the Kilimanjaro Landscape. *Natural Resources*, 05(13), 810–821. http://doi.org/10.4236/nr.2014.513070
- Skidmore, A. K., Ferwerda, J. G., Bailey, D. W., & Provenza, F. D. (2008). Resource Ecology. (H. H. T. Prins & F. Van Langevelde, Eds.). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6850-8
- Smith, B. (2015). Dangers to the Savanna Ecosystem | The Classroom | Synonym. Retrieved August 20, 2015, from http://classroom.synonym.com/dangers-savanna-ecosystem-18220.html
- Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Marquis, M., Averyt, K., Tignor, M. M. B., ... Chen, Z. (2007). Climate Change 2007. Nature, 446(7137), 727–8. http://doi.org/10.1038/446727a
- Sun, L., & Schulz, K. (2015). The Improvement of Land Cover Classification by Thermal Remote Sensing. Remote Sensing, 7(7), 8368–8390. http://doi.org/10.3390/rs70708368
- Thakur, R. B., & Phulara, N. K. (2009). Impacts of Climate Change on Biodiversity Resources & Forest Ecosystems (Vol. 3). Retrieved from http://www.nepjol.info/index.php/INIT/article/view/2499
- Toepfer Klaus and Musyoka Steven Kalonzo. (2000). Environmental assessment of year 2000 drought. Kenya. Retrieved from http://www.unep.org/PDF/2000\_drought\_full\_document.pdf
- Tucker, C. J. (1979). Red and photographic infrared linear combinations for monitoring vegetation. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 8(2), 127–150. http://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(79)90013-0
- Tucker, C. J., & Choudhury, B. J. (1987). Satellite remote sensing of drought conditions. Remote Sensing of Environment, 23, 243–251. http://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(87)90040-X
- Varga, K., Szabó, S., Szabó, G., Dévai, G., & Tóthmérész, B. (2014). Improved land cover mapping using aerial photographs and satellite images. *Open Geosciences*, 7(1), 15–26. http://doi.org/10.1515/geo-2015-0002

- Vicente-Serrano, S. M., Gouveia, C., Camarero, J. J., Beguería, S., Trigo, R., López-Moreno, J. I., ... Sanchez-Lorenzo, A. (2013). Response of vegetation to drought time-scales across global land biomes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(1), 52–7. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1207068110
- WallisDeVries, M. F. (1996). Effects of resource distribution patterns on ungulate foraging behaviour: a modelling approach. Forest Ecology and Management, 88(1-2), 167–177. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(96)03822-4
- Yeganeh, H., Khajedein, S. jamale, Amiri, F., & Shariff, A. R. B. M. (2012). Monitoring rangeland ground cover vegetation using multitemporal MODIS data. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 7(1), 287–298. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12517-012-0733-0
- Young, T. P. (1994). Natural of Large Mammals : Implications for Conservation. *Conservation Biology*, 8(2), 410–418.
- Zhu, Z., & Woodcock, C. E. (2014). Continuous change detection and classification of land cover using all available Landsat data. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 144, 152–171. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2014.01.011
- Zwaagstra, L., Sharif, Z., Wambile, A., de Leeuw, J., Said, M. Y., Johnson, N., ... Herrero, M. (2010). An assessment of the response to the 2008- 2009 drought in Kenya. A report to the European Union Delegation to the Republic of Kenya, *ILRI*, Nairobi, Kenya.